

## Minireview Article

# Fuels for Automobiles; The Sustainable Future

### ABSTRACT (ARIAL, BOLD, 11 FONT, LEFT ALIGNED, CAPS)

Unless clean fuels are available in commercial quantities, the future of internal combustion engine-powered automobiles hangs in the balance. Electricity-powered vehicles will displace them. However, electricity-powered vehicles are yet to meet some of the automobile demands. A paradigm shift with attendant infrastructural change is necessary for its adoption. Synthetic fuels promise to be the solution. Its invention dates back to the early twentieth century when the concern was not about climate change. The search for alternative fuels later metamorphosed to when fossil fuels reserve depletion and petroleum derivatives cost became a concern. The alternatives were made available in biofuels. The prevailing challenge is now climate change. It is the consequence of the emission of greenhouse gases from the combustion of petroleum derivatives in automobiles. Synthetic fuels show the potential of coming to the rescue despite the prevailing hurdles. The future holds a potential promise of converting greenhouse gas (CO<sub>2</sub>) to liquid fuels that will allow little or no disruptions to the current transportation infrastructure network. It is, therefore, necessary to encourage further studies on the production of synthetic fuels. The environmental and economic benefits of commercially available synthetic fuels promise to be enormous.

*Keywords: [Biofuels, Fossil fuels, Greenhouse gas, Renewables, Synthetic fuel]*

### 1. INTRODUCTION

The development of internal combustion engines eased the movement from one place to the other. The engines find applications in automobiles, locomotives, aircraft, and marine vessels. Internal combustion engines face the threat of extinction because they emit greenhouse gases which contribute to climate change. Many nations' governments are looking at the electrification of vehicles to ensure clean transportation. However, demands like lightweight and short refueling periods still pose a challenge waiting to be surmounted [1]. The electricity-powered automobile can only be green if the source is green [2,3]. Hence, renewable energy sources like hydro, wind, solar, etc., need to be considered for electricity generation. Besides hydro generated electricity, wind and solar-generated electricity are the others with matured technology in the renewable energy mix [4]. They are, however, weather dependent and give out a fluctuating amount of electricity [4] thus, making the use of energy storage devices (batteries) a requirement. Electricity consumption relying on renewables requires augmenting with conventional generation during shortfalls, and for sole reliance on renewables, there has to be the introduction of redundancy.

Comment [G1]: I don't like the opening sentence.

Comment [G2]: Their

Comment [G3]: Delete «to»

The peculiar demands of automobiles like lightweight and fast refueling make the use of batteries in electricity-powered vehicles an extra burden [1]. The batteries add to the weight of the automobile and need a relatively long time to recharge. While it's theoretically believed that all cars can be powered electrically, aircraft, ships, and heavy trucks still have to rely on internal combustion engines [5]. The importance of internal combustion to mobility led to the studies on alternative fuels as a means of reducing greenhouse emissions [6-7]. The use of biofuels can be a threat because it competes with available land for food production. However, leeway is the use of agricultural wastes to produce biofuels [8-10]. The level of greenhouse emission from biofuels in most cases is lower than for petroleum derivatives. However, not at the required level.

Scholars thus, suggest the utilization of the extra electricity generated from renewables above the mean during favourable weather for the production of synthetic fuels [1]. The process of production of synthetic fuels is by the hydrogenation of materials [11-12]. Synthetic fuels are carbon neutral when produced from renewable generated electricity [1-2,13]. With an economical production of synthetic fuels, our internal combustion engines can remain on the road with little or no net greenhouse gas emission contribution. The susceptibility of renewables to seasonal variation [4,14] will put further pressure on the system during the peak demand periods if electricity-powered automobiles are solely adopted. Thus, there is the need to have a fuel-based storage system to mitigate this challenge which will be critical to future energy systems [14]. This work thus reviews the literature on the development of alternative fuels for use in internal combustion engines. And the focus is made on synthetic fuels for the future.

## 2. ALTERNATIVE FUELS; THE PAST

The fuels of choice for the internal combustion engines used in automobiles are the Premium Motor Spirit (PMS) and the Automotive Gas Oil (AGO). These fuels are non-renewable. The fear of depletion of their reserves was the beginning of a search for alternative fuels [5,15-16]. Also, the requirement of high performance and lower emissions from the engines is a major driving force [2,6-7, 15-17].

The production of synthetic fuels dates back to the early twentieth century from fossil fuels. It contributed to the conception of the popular Fisher-Tropsch (FT) processes [18]. However, the push for alternative fuels during this period was not to reduce greenhouse emissions or improve engine performance. It was to make automotive fuels available without dependence on petroleum [18-19]. The inventors of the process faced the challenge of converting Germany's vast coal reserves for the best possible use. The automotive fuels exist in the liquid phase, and there was the challenge of getting a liquid fuel from the solid coals. This process was developed further and adopted by nations that sought fuel independence away from scarce petroleum reserves but with reserves rich in other fossils [19]. The technology of producing synthetic fuels from fossil fuels like coal and shale oil was conceived, implemented, and fully understood. However, what was lacking was its environmental impact [20]. Alcohol-based fuels referred to as "spirits" have also been used in the past to power internal combustion engines in automobiles [21]. These are alternative fuels to fossil fuels and qualifies as first-generation biofuels.

The reality of petroleum reserves getting depleted coupled with the insecure nature of its supplies [6,14,21] vis a vis fluctuating price soon became the pushing factor for the search for alternative mobility fuels. It forms the overlap between the past and the present. To overcome the challenge led to intensified studies on biofuels, which, unlike fossils, are renewable [6,16-17,21]. It is an undisputed fact that fossil fuels are great carriers of chemical energy. They can be used economically to meet demand within a short time frame [14]. Biofuels provided the needed alternative during this period. They have similar characteristic properties to that of petroleum-derived fuels [6,8-10,16,22-23]. Bioethanol found application in gasoline engines and biodiesels in diesel engines [21]. However, these biofuels come

Comment [G4]: "the chosen fuels"

under the class of first-generation biofuels and compete with available resources for food production [16,21]. They thus became a subject of criticism; the production of ethanol is from sugarcane or corn that are food sources.

### 3. THE PRESENT AND THE FUTURE OF ALTERNATIVE FUELS

The search for alternative fuels originated from the need for motive fuel without dependence on petroleum but based on abundant coal reserves. [The focus is now moving away from producing fuels from coal and crude-oil but other sources to end up with green fuels [19]. The competitive nature of the first-generation biofuels with food production [16,21] led to the push for producing biofuels from waste and other non-edible feedstock [21,24-25]. This class of biofuels forms the second-generation biofuels. In conjunction with the first-generation, they still find application in the present-day world as an alternative to fossil fuels for mobility. Dimethyl Ether (DME) evolved as a substitute for AGO. It has properties similar to that of AGO with lower emissions making it a good choice for compression ignition engines [10,20]. It is a second-generation biofuel [21] but currently enjoys low patronage because of its adverse effects on the fuel system components and the need for a specialized fuel system design [11,21]. Moreover, it qualifies as a future fuel because of its potential as a hydrogen carrier for onboard fuel cells and its inclusion as a future potential fuel in EU nations [11]. Climate change is real. Studies have shown that global warming has gone to the extent of making average temperature about 1°C above pre-industrial levels [2,26] and the reason for the push for greener fuels. An alternative to fossil fuels in terms of inherent energy with little or no greenhouse gas emissions is a task to be achieved.

Many nations' governments have joined the growing lists of countries making policies to adopt the use of electricity-powered vehicles over the internal combustion engines-powered ones [2-3] as a means of reducing global warming. However, while this might be possible if the source of electricity is green, some peculiar demands of automobiles are still waiting to be met with the design of electricity-powered vehicles [1]. The fact states that carbon-based liquid carrying fuels remains practically vital for mobility operations [5,12].

Electricity-based synthetic fuel production research is now enjoying patronage from nations' governments and big establishments. These gestures are to satisfy automobiles fuel need and for aircraft and marine vessels [27]. A plus that synthetic fuel is bringing-on is its compatibility with existing internal combustion engines. There is no gainsaying that the internal combustion engine technology is matured. The availability of compatible fuels that can meet the net zero-carbon emission requirement will be a dream come true. Keeping the infrastructures already on-ground for automobile manufacture will result in resource savings. Likewise, financial savings will come through the low cost of storage, transportation, and handling [14].

The Carbon Capture Storage (CCS) technology is fast developing, and the potential of producing synthetic fuels from the captured carbon is exciting [2,14,28]. The CCS technology currently relies on temperature swing adsorption using amine [29]. Studies, however, are on to advance the knowledge of cryogenics, membrane separation, and algae-based systems that can be adopted in the nearest future [28]. The disparity in the economics between fossil fuels and synthetic fuels is wide [29]. However, with significant investments, the gap will reduce. The technology of Carbon Capture and Utilization (CCU) is a potential boost for greenhouse gas reduction. It promises to provide the fuel of the future with zero contribution of greenhouse gas if rightly harnessed.

The high cost of producing synthetic fuels from Carbon IV Oxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) is a consequence of its thermodynamic stability [28]. Studies have, however, shown possible mitigation of this with the development of non-thermal plasma technology that first reduces the CO<sub>2</sub> to Carbon II Oxide (CO) [30-31]. Technology for the absorption of CO<sub>2</sub> known as Pressure Swing Absorption (PSA) was proven to be feasible on a pilot scale. It is, however, required to conduct a techno-economic assessment of the process to determine its commercial

**Comment [G5]:** I prefer: «The focus is now moving away from producing fuels from coal and crude-oil to other sources for production of green fuels»

feasibility [28]. Other studies have reported a cost reduction technology in direct capture-conversion, eliminating the high cost required for CO<sub>2</sub> purification [29].

The future looks bright for synthetic fuel production despite the constraints rearing its ugly head at the moment. The atmosphere has a vast amount of CO<sub>2</sub> that can be directly captured and utilized [27-29]. The water bodies (seawater) are also potential sources for synthetic fuel production [5,32] using artificial photosynthesis technology, and with committed studies can be developed to commercial scales. Synthetic fuel offers the potential of reducing carbon emissions from the transportation sector without disruptions to the existing infrastructures.

#### 4. CONCLUSION

Having a clean fuel for the present and future with the twin advantage of being Carbon neutral and weather independent while perfectly fitting into the current liquid fuel infrastructures is a requirement. The utilization of CO<sub>2</sub> for synthetic fuel production will not only help in reducing greenhouse gases. It will also help to create an energy carrier from an environmental "toxic" product. The following are the deductions made from the study;

- The concept of synthetic fuel is not new; it was conceived in the early twentieth century, although due to different reasons from what is applicable today.
- The issue of cost and energy security became a cause of concern about petroleum fuels, and researchers came up with biofuels as an alternative. The concern about competition with food production led to a shift from the first to the second generation of biofuels.
- The dreaded effect caused by the emission of greenhouse gases from the combustion of petroleum derivatives became a cause of concern. It led to the call for the adoption of electric vehicles and the stop of the internal combustion engine-powered vehicle usage.
- Peculiar demands of automobiles cannot be fully met by electric-powered vehicles. Thus, the need for a Carbon neutral alternative to petroleum fuels. Synthetic fuels possess the potential to mitigate this challenge with little or no disruptions to existing transportation infrastructure.
- With the current state of technology development on synthetic fuels, the future of producing environmentally friendly fuels is bright.

Comment [G6]: The initials of a list in lowercase

Comment [G7]: The initials of a list in lowercase

Comment [G8]: The initials of a list in lowercase

Comment [G9]: The initials of a list in lowercase

Comment [G10]: The initials of a list in lowercase

#### COMPETING INTERESTS DISCLAIMER:

Authors have declared that no competing interests exist. The products used for this research are commonly and predominantly use products in our area of research and country. There is absolutely no conflict of interest between the authors and producers of the products because we do not intend to use these products as an avenue for any litigation but for the advancement of knowledge. Also, the research was not funded by the producing company rather it was funded by personal efforts of the authors.

#### REFERENCES

1. Hanggi, S. et al. A review of synthetic fuels for passenger vehicles. Energy Reports, 2019; 5: 555-569. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egyr.2019.04.007>
2. Towoju, OA, Ishola, FA. A Case for The Internal Combustion Engine Powered Vehicle. Energy Reports, 2020; 6: 315-321. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egyr.2019.11.082>

3. Towoju, OA. Carbon Footprint Reduction with The Adoption of the Electricity-Powered Vehicles. *International Energy Journal (IEJ)*, 2021; 21 (1A): 101-106.
4. Towoju, OA, Ishola, FA. Pros and cons of electricity generation from different available energy sources. *International Review of Mechanical Engineering (IREME)*, 2020; 14(6): 374-380. <https://doi.org/10.15866/ireme.v14i6.19104>.
5. Patterson, BD et al. Renewable CO2 recycling and synthetic fuel production in a marine environment. *PNAS*, (2019); 116(25): 12212-12219. [www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.1902335116](http://www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.1902335116)
6. Towoju, OA, Jekayinfa, SO. Compression Ignition Engine Performance as a Function of the Fuel Properties. *Journal of Engineering Sciences*, 2019; 6(1): G1-G5. DOI: [10.21272/jes.2019.6\(1\).g1](https://doi.org/10.21272/jes.2019.6(1).g1).
7. Mondal, PK, Mandal, BK. A comparative study on the performance and emissions from a CI engine fueled with water emulsified diesel prepared by mechanical homogenization and ultrasonic dispersion method. *Energy Reports*, 2019; 5: 639-648. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egy.2019.05.006>.
8. Patil P, Gude V, Reddy H, Muppaneni T, and Deng S. Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Oil Using Sulfuric Acid and Microwave Irradiation Processes. *Journal of Environmental Protection*, 2012; 3(1): 107-113. doi: [10.4236/jep.2012.31013](https://doi.org/10.4236/jep.2012.31013).
9. Umaru M, et al. Production and Characterization of Biodiesel from Nigerian Mango Seed Oil. *Proceedings of the World Congress on Engineering 2014; I, WCE 2014, July 2 - 4, 2014, London, U.K.*
10. Lie J, et al. Production of biodiesel from sea mango (*Cerbera odollam*) seed using in situ subcritical methanol–water under a non- catalytic process. *International Journal of Industrial Chemistry*, 2018; 9: 53–59. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s40090-018-0138-3>.
11. Evans, G., Smith, C. 5.11 – Biomass to Liquids Technology. *Reference Module in Earth Systems and Environmental Sciences-Comprehensive Renewable Energy*, 2012; 5: 155-204. <https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-087872-0.00515-1>.
12. Pattersona B. D. et al., Renewable CO2 recycling and synthetic fuel production in a marine environment. *PNAS*, 2019;116(25): 12212-12219. <https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1902335116>
13. Fletcher, WD, Smith, CB. Chapter 16 - The way forward in What It Takes to Solve the Global Climate Crisis, Reaching Net Zero, 2020; 239-257. <https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-823366-5.00016-6>.
14. Wilson, IAG., Styring, P. Why Synthetic Fuels Are Necessary in Future Energy Systems. *Frontiers in Energy Research*, 2017; 5(19): 1-10. doi: 10.3389/fenrg.2017.00019.
15. Towoju, OA, Dare, AA. Frustum Cone Piston Crown Equipped Compression Ignition Engine Performance Characteristics. *American Journal of Engineering Research (AJER)*, 2018; 7(3): 317-330.
16. Towoju, OA, Dare, AA, Fashogbon, SK. Experimental Investigation of the Performance and Emission Characteristics of a CI Engine Equipped with a Modified Truncated Cone Piston Crown Operated on Diesel and Shea-Butter Biodiesel. *European Journal of Engineering Research and Science*, 2018; 3(10): 126-131. DOI: <http://dx.doi.org/10.24018/ejers.2018.3.10.954>
17. Towoju, OA, Dare, AA. Impact of Conical Piston Crown Equipped Compression Ignition Engine on Performance. *European Journal of Engineering and Technology*, 2018; 6(1): 13-25.
18. Willauer, HD, Hardy, DR. Chapter 26 - Synthetic Fuel Development, *Future Energy (Third Edition)*, 2020; 561-580. Editor; T. M. Letcher. <https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-102886-5.00026-8>
19. Exance, A. Synthetic Fuels – Liquid Assets. *Chemistry World*, 2011; 50-54. Retrieved online from [https://www.rsc.org/images/synthetic%20fuels%20-%20liquid%20assets\\_tcm18-201247.pdf](https://www.rsc.org/images/synthetic%20fuels%20-%20liquid%20assets_tcm18-201247.pdf).

20. Dickson, EM, Hughes, EE. Impacts of Synthetic Liquid Fuel Development for The Automotive Market. J. M. Colucci et al. (eds.), Future Automotive Fuels, Springer, 1977; 342-362.
21. Lee, RA, Lavoie, J. From first- to third-generation biofuels: Challenges of producing a commodity from a biomass of increasing complexity. Animal Frontiers, 2013; 3(2): 6–11. <https://doi.org/10.2527/af.2013-0010>.
22. Naveen, K, Parameshwaran, TP, Azhagiri. P. Experimental Investigation of Variable Compression Ratio Diesel Engine using Ziziphus Jujuba oil, 2014 International Conference on Innovations in Engineering and Technology (ICIET'14). III, Madurai, Tamil Nadu: International Journal of Innovative Research in Science, Engineering and Technology, 2014; 1134-1139.
23. Tutak, W, Jamrozik, A, Pyrc. M. Experimental investigations on combustion, performance and emissions characteristics of compression ignition engine powered by B100/ethanol blend, Energy and Fuels, 2016; 1-10.
24. Nasim, MN, Yarasu, RB, Sarda, RH. Experimental Investigation on Compression Ignition Engine Powered by Preheated Neat Jatropa Oil. Journal of Petroleum Technology and Alternative Fuels, 2013; 4(7): 119–124.
25. Nair, JN, Kaviti, AK, Daram, AK. Analysis of Performance and Emission on Compression Ignition Engine Fuelled with Blends of Neem Biodiesel. Egyptian Journal of Petroleum, 2017; 26(4): 927–931.
26. Aizebeokhai, AP. Global warming and climate change: Realities uncertainties and measures. Int J Phys Sci, 2009; 3(13): 868–79.
27. Cirium. DLR to develop large-scale synthetic fuel production concept. Aerospace, 2021. Retrieved from <https://www.flightglobal.com/aerospace/dlr-to-develop-large-scale-synthetic-fuel-production-concept/142175.article>
28. Moss, M, et al. Integrated CO<sub>2</sub> Capture and Utilization Using Non-Thermal Plasmolysis. Frontiers in Energy Research, 2017; 5(20): 1-12. doi: 10.3389/fenrg.2017.00020.
29. Dowson, GRM, Styring, P. Demonstration of CO<sub>2</sub> Conversion to Synthetic Transport Fuel at Flue Gas Concentrations. Frontiers in Energy Research, 2017; 5(26): 1-11. doi: 10.3389/fenrg.2017.00026.
30. Bogaerts, A, Kozák, T, van Laer, K, and Snoeckx, R. Plasma-based conversion of CO<sub>2</sub>: current status and future challenges. Faraday Discuss. 2015; 183: 217–232. doi:10.1039/c5fd00053j.
31. van Rooij, GJ. et al. Taming microwave plasma to beat thermodynamics in CO<sub>2</sub> dissociation. Faraday Discuss. 2015; 183: 233–248. doi:10.1039/c5fd00045a.
32. Liu, C, et al. Water Splitting-Biosynthetic System with CO<sub>2</sub> Reduction Efficiencies Exceeding Photosynthesis. Science, 2016; 352: 1210–1213.